See discussions, stats, and author profiles for this publication at: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/277654420

Cause of parkinsonian symptoms: Firing rate, firing pattern or dynamic activity changes?

Article in Basal Ganglia · March 2015 Dol: 10.1016/j.baga.2014.11.001

CITATIONS 38		READS 218	
3 author	s, including:		
0	Yoshihisa Tachibana Kobe University 63 PUBLICATIONS 1,677 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE		Satomi Chiken The Graduate University for Advanced Studies 56 PUBLICATIONS 1,050 CITATIONS SEE PROFILE

Some of the authors of this publication are also working on these related projects:

Project

Stereotactic neurosurgery View project

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Basal Ganglia

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/baga

Cause of parkinsonian symptoms: Firing rate, firing pattern or dynamic activity changes?

Atsushi Nambu*, Yoshihisa Tachibana, Satomi Chiken

Division of System Neurophysiology, National Institute for Physiological Sciences and Department of Physiological Sciences, Graduate University for Advanced Studies, Myodaiji, Okazaki 444-8585, Japan

ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 27 January 2014 Received in revised form 7 November 2014 Accepted 9 November 2014 Available online 15 November 2014

Keywords: Direct and indirect pathways Dystonia Hyperdirect pathway Movement disorder Oscillation Parkinson's disease

ABSTRACT

Malfunctions of the basal ganglia cause movement disorders, such as Parkinson's disease and dystonia. Several models have been proposed to explain the pathophysiology of these disorders: (1) firing rate model: activity imbalance between the *direct* and *indirect* pathways changes the mean firing rates of the output nuclei of the basal ganglia and induces hypokinetic or hyperkinetic movement disorders; (2) firing pattern model: oscillatory and/or synchronized activity observed in the diseased basal ganglia disturbs information processing in the basal ganglia, resulting in motor symptoms; (3) dynamic activity model: abnormal neuronal modulations through the *hyperdirect, direct* and *indirect* pathways interfere with the sequential, dynamic activity changes, and disrupt the balance between the movement-related inhibition and its surrounding excitation in the output nuclei, leading to motor symptoms. In this minireview, we will critically discuss the three models.

© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier GmbH. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0/).

Contents

Introduction	1
Firing rate model	2
Mechanism of firing rate changes	2
Criticism of the firing rate model	3
Firing pattern model	3
Burst activity	3
Oscillatory activity in the tremor frequency and beta frequency bands	3
Oscillatory activity in the gamma frequency band	3
Mechanism of oscillatory activity	3
Criticism of the firing pattern model	3
Dynamic activity model	3
Firing rate and firing pattern changes in the dynamic activity model	4
Points to be solved in the dynamic activity model	4
Conclusions	5
Acknowledgements	5
References	5

Introduction

* Corresponding author at: Division of System Neurophysiology, National Institute for Physiological Sciences, 38 Nishigonaka, Myodaiji, Okazaki 444-8585, Japan. Tel.: +81 564 55 7771.

Parkinson's disease (PD) is a neurodegenerative disorder characterized by the progressive loss of nigrostriatal dopaminergic (DAergic) neurons originating from the substantia nigra pars

http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.baga.2014.11.001

2210-5336/© 2014 The Authors. Published by Elsevier GmbH. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/ 3.0/).



Review





E-mail address: nambu@nips.ac.jp (A. Nambu).

compacta (SNc). The loss of DAergic neurons induces severe motor and non-motor dysfunctions, such as akinesia, tremor, rigidity, postural instability, cognitive impairments and depression. There have been two major hypotheses that explain the pathophysiology of PD. First, the "firing rate model" was originally proposed based on firing rate changes of the basal ganglia (BG) neurons in 1methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine (MPTP)-induced PD monkeys [1]. These changes are considered to finally increase mean firing rates in the output nuclei of the BG, i.e., the internal segment of the globus pallidus (GPi) and the substantia nigra pars reticulata (SNr), along the BG pathways, and induce motor dysfunctions. However, some recent electrophysiological studies using MPTP-induced PD monkeys have failed to detect expected firing rate changes in the BG neurons [2–4]. Second, unit activity and local field potentials (LFPs) recorded from PD animals and patients have shown oscillatory and synchronized activity in the BG [3,5–8]. These firing pattern changes may cause the disturbance of information processing in the BG, resulting in motor dysfunctions [5]. This "firing pattern model" seems to have now largely supplanted the "firing rate model". In this mini-review, we would like to compare and critically discuss these two models. In addition, we would like to introduce a novel "dynamic activity model" [9] that seems to better explain the pathophysiology of PD and may eventually replace the preceding two models.

Firing rate model

One of the earliest studies using MPTP-treated PD monkeys demonstrated a reduction of activity in the external segment of the globus pallidus (GPe) and increased activity in the subthalamic nucleus (STN) and GPi [1]. Together with the *direct* and *indirect* pathways model of the BG [10–13], the pathophysiology of PD is explained as follows (Fig. 1A). Dopamine (DA) depletion reduces tonic excitation to striatal *direct* pathway neurons projecting to the GPi and tonic inhibition to striatal *indirect* pathway neurons projecting to the GPe [10,12–14]. Both of these changes are thought to increase mean firing rates of GPi/SNr neurons through the inhibitory striato-GPi/SNr *direct* pathway and the net excitatory striato-GPe-STN-GPi/SNr *indirect* pathway. Such increased activity

in the BG output nuclei seems to induce decreased activity in thalamic and cortical neurons, resulting in akinesia. A number of studies subsequent to the original one confirmed similar activity changes: reduced firing rates in the GPe and increased firing rates in the STN and GPi in the PD state [15–21]. A recent optogenetic study has elegantly shown that facilitating striatal *direct* pathway neurons in PD mice ameliorates akinesia, and that facilitating striatal *indirect* pathway neurons in normal mice induces akinesia [22].

The "firing rate model" seems to be applicable to hyperkinetic disorders that exhibit involuntary movements, as well. Neuronal activity recording in hyperkinetic disorders revealed reduced activity in the GPi. The development of the involuntary movements can be explained as the result of reductions in inhibitory BG outputs to the thalamus. In dystonia, a number of single cell recording studies in patients undergoing functional neurosurgery have reported that firing rates in the GPe and GPi are low [23–26], although some study reported that firing rates were found to be as high as in PD patients [27]. An animal model of dystonia also reported decreased firing rates and the appearance of burst firings in the GPe and GPi [28]. In addition, in experimental models of hemiballism induced by electrolytic lesion, chemical lesion or chemical inactivation of the STN [29–31], ballistic movements were accompanied by substantial reduction of firing rates in the GPe and GPi. It is a consequence of reduced glutamatergic inputs from the STN to the GPe and GPi. The injection of a GABA-receptor blocker into the GPe also induced dyskinetic movements [32-34], probably through STN inhibition by enhanced inhibitory GPe-STN transmission.

Mechanism of firing rate changes

The "firing rate model" assumes that DA has excitatory effects on striato-GPi *direct* pathway neurons through DA D1 receptors (D1Rs) and inhibitory effects on striato-GPe *indirect* pathway neurons through D2 receptors (D2Rs) (Fig. 1A). DA effects were originally proposed on the basis of indirect measurement of neuronal activity, such as alterations in gene expression, glucose utilization and receptor binding [13,35], and have also been confirmed electrophysiologically [35–38]. In addition, DA regulates corticostriatal synaptic plasticity: D1R signaling induces



Fig. 1. "Firing rate" (A) and "firing pattern" (B) models explaining the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Open and filled symbols represent excitatory and inhibitory neurons, respectively. Cx, cerebral cortex; D1R, D2R, dopamine D1 and D2 receptors; GPe and GPi, external and internal segments of the globus pallidus; SNc and SNr, substantia nigra pars compacta and reticulata; STN, subthalamic nucleus; Str, striatum; Th, thalamus. (A) Modified from DeLong [12]; (B) modified from Tachibana et al. [46].

long-term potentiation, while D2R signaling induces long-term depression [35,36,39]. DA depletion changes the density and morphology of dendritic spines on striatal projection neurons [40], and may modify corticostriatal transmission. DAergic projections to other BG structures may also contribute to the excitability changes [41,42].

Criticism of the firing rate model

The "firing rate model" met with the following criticisms. (1) Recent other studies have reported no changes in GPe or GPi firing rates, or rate changes opposite to those predicted by the model [2-4,43-46]. (2) Inactivation of the GPi in normal monkeys does not induce severe motor deficits nor involuntary movements as predicted by the model [47,48]. Instead, pallidotomy in PD patients abolishes L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia [49]. It should be noted, however, that in hyperkinetic disorders, firing rates of GPi neurons are indeed decreased as mentioned above. (3) Lesions in the thalamus do not produce akinesia [50]. Instead, thalamotomy in PD ameliorates PD symptoms [51]. Lesions in the GPe do not produce PD symptoms [21], while activation of the GPe induces dyskinesia [32–34]. (4) The firing rate changes cannot explain the mechanism of tremor and rigidity. (5) GPi activity seems to be increased through the striato-GPi and striato-GPe-STN-GPi pathways. However, sequential activity changes along the pathways leading to increased GPi activity have not been directly demonstrated.

Firing pattern model

The "firing pattern model" suggests that oscillatory and/or synchronized firings of the BG may disable individual neurons to process and relay motor-related information, resulting in the failure of appropriate movements [5] (Fig. 1B). Abnormal firing patterns, such as bursts and oscillations, were recorded in the BG of PD animals and patients. Oscillatory LFPs, which are supposed to be linked to oscillatory and synchronized firings of a large population of neurons [52], were also recorded from the BG of PD patients using electrodes for deep brain stimulation (DBS).

Burst activity

"Burst" means a series of firings at short periods of time. In the normal state, GPi, GPe and STN neurons fire randomly and usually do not fire in bursts: GPi neurons fire continuously at high frequency, GPe neurons fire at high frequency with pauses, and STN neurons fire continuously at a middle frequency range. Bursting neurons are increased in MPTP-treated PD monkeys and human PD patients [1,2,16,21,43,53–55].

Oscillatory activity in the tremor frequency and beta frequency bands

If burst activity occurs periodically, it becomes oscillatory activity. Oscillatory firings have been reported in the GPe, GPi and STN of PD animals and patients [3,6,16,19,43,46,56]. The range is in the tremor frequency (4–9 Hz) and beta frequency (10–30 Hz) bands. STN inactivation [57] or DA replacement therapy [46,56] ameliorates PD symptoms and oscillatory firings. Simultaneously recorded neurons in the GPe and GPi of PD monkeys exhibited synchronized oscillation [3,19,56,58], while neighboring pairs of neurons in the GPe/GPi under normal conditions did not exhibit correlation. Furthermore, the oscillatory firings are in synchrony between the STN, GPi and cortex [59,60]. Oscillatory LFPs, especially those in the beta frequency band, are also frequently observed using DBS electrodes in PD patients [7,8,61–64]. The amelioration of akinesia and rigidity by treatments with drugs or stereotactic surgery is correlated with the suppression of the

oscillatory LFPs in the beta frequency band, and thus it is thought to be anti-kinetic [61].

Oscillatory activity in the gamma frequency band

In addition to the low frequency activity, oscillatory LFPs in the high, gamma frequency (>60 Hz) band are also observed. In contrast to the low frequency band activity being anti-kinetic, the gamma frequency band activity is believed to be pro-kinetic, because oscillatory LFPs in the gamma frequency band were increased in response to DA replacement therapy and decreased in the PD state [61,62].

Mechanism of oscillatory activity

It is probable that BG oscillations are generated by local circuits within the BG. The most probable candidate of such oscillators is the GPe-STN complex (Fig. 1B). Oscillations are produced by the GPe-STN inhibitory and STN-GPe excitatory connections [46,65–67]. DA may have a role in de-correlating neuronal activity, and DA depletion may enhance connections between the GPe and STN, and promote oscillatory activity [68–70]. Rhythmic cortical inputs to the STN also contribute to oscillatory activity in the STN-GPe-GPi network [46]. Hyperactivity of the cortico-STN *hyperdirect* or striato-GPe *indirect* pathway may underlie a tendency for oscillatory activity [69–71]. Plastic changes inside and outside the striatum may also enhance oscillatory activity [40,42].

Criticism of the firing pattern model

The explanation for akinesia by the "firing pattern model" is not as straightforward as that by the "firing rate model". Besides, the "firing pattern model" met with the following criticisms. (1) The causal relationship between the emergence of BG oscillation and the PD symptoms is questionable. During chronic DA depletion induced by MPTP in monkeys, oscillatory activity did not precede, but followed the appearance of PD motor symptoms [44], denying a causal relationship. (2) Acute disruption of DA transmission induced catalepsy, but did not develop oscillatory activity, which is distinct from chronically DA depleted animals [72]. (3) The exact origin of LFPs in the GPi and STN is unclear. In the cortex, synchronous excitatory postsynaptic potentials in pyramidal neurons produce open-field potentials, which can be readily recorded as LFPs [73]. On the other hand, neurons in the deep nuclei, such as GPi and STN, produce closed-field potentials, which are not detectable outside their dendritic fields. Thus, the origin of LFPs in the GPi and STN and their relation to neuronal firings should be carefully investigated.

Dynamic activity model

We would like to propose a novel "dynamic activity model", which can better explain the pathophysiology of PD (Fig. 2) [9,74,75]. According to this model, in the normal state, signals through the cortico-STN-GPi/SNr *hyperdirect*, cortico-striato-GPi/SNr *direct* and cortico-striato-GPe-STN-GPi/SNr *indirect* pathways cause dynamic activity changes in the GPi/SNr and release only a selected motor program at a selected timing with a clear boundary between the selected and other unnecessary competing motor programs (Fig. 2A). GPi/SNr neurons receive competitive, sequential inputs from the *hyperdirect*, *direct* and *indirect* pathways that originate from the cortex. Signals through the *direct* pathway disinhibit thalamic neurons in the *center* area, which are related to a selected motor program, while those from the preceding *hyperdirect* and succeeding *indirect* pathways inhibit them to make clear initiation and termination of the selected motor



Fig. 2. "Dynamic activity model" explaining the control of voluntary movements in the normal state (A), and the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease (PD) (B) and dystonia (C). Spatial distributions (*left* in each panel) and temporal patterns (*right* in each panel) of neuronal activity in the striatum (Str), GPi/SNr and thalamus (Th) during movements are illustrated. Modified from Nambu [9].

program (Fig. 2A, right). On the other hand, in the *surrounding* area, signals through the *hyperdirect* and *indirect* pathways continuously inhibit thalamic neurons, which are involved in other unnecessary competing motor programs, with a minimal contribution from the *direct* pathway (Fig. 2A, left). Sequential inputs to the GPi/SNr from the cortex through the *hyperdirect*, *direct* and *indirect* pathways have been vigorously confirmed by cortically evoked excitation-inhibition-excitation responses in the GPi/SNr of rodents, primates and human patients [28,31,76–79]. In addition, the *center-surround* composition shown in Fig. 2A is based on the anatomical study showing that excitatory STN–GPi fibers arborize more widely and terminate on more proximal neuronal elements than inhibitory striato–GPi fibers [80].

In the PD state, DA depletion reduces movement-related GPi inhibition through the *direct* pathway in the *center* area and facilitates movement-related GPi excitation through the hyperdirect and *indirect* pathways in the *center* and *surrounding* areas (Fig. 2B). These changes shorten (Fig. 2B, right) and narrow (Fig. 2B, left) movement-related GPi inhibition, which leads to the reduction of disinhibition in the thalamus and cortex, resulting in akinesia. In fact, the ratio of the number of activated to that of inhibited GPi neurons during movements was increased after MPTP-treatment [81,82]. Increased activity through the hyperdirect and indirect pathways and decreased activity through the *direct* pathway were suggested by testing cortically evoked responses in the GPi/SNr of PD rodents [83-85]. In addition, the "dynamic activity model" can simultaneously explain the pathophysiology of hyperkinetic disorders as well. Enhanced movement-related inhibition in the center area of the GPi through the *direct* pathway, which is longer and wider, and reduced GPi excitation through the hyperdirect and indirect pathways in the center and surrounding areas result in excessive, uncontrolled disinhibition in the thalamus and cortex (Fig. 2C), leading to involuntary movements [28,31,78,86].

Firing rate and firing pattern changes in the dynamic activity model

Alterations of dynamic activity in the GPi may be a fundamental feature of PD, and firing rate and firing pattern changes may be merely epiphenomena. Activity changes through the *hyperdirect*, *direct* and *indirect* pathways exclusively modulate movement-related phasic activity and may not be strong enough to modulate spontaneous firing rates. Thus, it seems to be natural that no apparent changes are observed in the mean firing rates. In addition, under normal conditions, the activity balance between the *hyperdirect*, *direct* and *indirect* pathways contributes to appropriate,

timely activation of BG neurons and does not induce oscillation. On the other hand, under PD conditions where the activity balance between the three pathways collapses, spontaneous cortical activity can easily induce oscillatory activity in the BG [69–71], which is detected as firing pattern changes.

Points to be solved in the dynamic activity model

The "dynamic activity model" may have the following points to be solved. (1) It is still paradoxical that GPi inactivation does not induce dyskinesia in the normal state, but that instead, GPi lesioning is used for the treatment of dyskinesia in PD. However, this can be explained by the assumption that a certain level of remaining GPi activity is necessary to induce involuntary movements. In L-DOPA-induced dyskinesia in PD, signals through the hyperdirect, direct and indirect pathways may induce a sequence of bursts and pauses in the GPi, and subsequent inhibition and rebound bursts in the thalamus and cortex, leading to the manifestation of involuntary movements. (2) Lesions in the thalamus do not produce akinesia in the normal state. This can be explained by that cerebellar inputs to the thalamus may compensate for the initiation of movements. (3) Activity changes in the BG induced by the hyperdirect, direct and indirect pathways begin at the timing of movement onset, and thus, may be too late for movement initiation in the normal state. This point should be examined carefully whether dynamic activity changes in the BG can contribute to the manifestation of abnormal movements in BG disorders. (4) The *center-surround* composition in the "dynamic activity model" is hypothetical and is not yet proven. Although an anatomical study does support this configuration [80], other studies rather suggest highly specific STN-GPi and striato-GPi projections [87,88]. Further investigation is needed to determine the topographical distribution of striatum-derived inhibition and STN-derived excitation in the GPi upon cortical stimulation. (5) It is still unknown how cortical activation during voluntary movements contributes to the activity changes in the GPi. It has been confirmed that electrical cortical stimulation does induce a series of responses composed of excitation-inhibition-excitation in the GPi through the hyperdirect, direct and indirect pathways [31,77]. As a next step, recording GPi activity from behaving animals is essential to solve this question. Investigation of movement-related GPi activity under conditions of PD and hyperkinetic disorders will also help toward verifying the "dynamic activity model". (6) In addition to the ascending projections to the thalamus, output from the BG descends to the brain stem and control various types of behaviors, such as rhythmic limb movements and postural muscle tone [89]. The contribution of the BG-brain stem pathway to symptoms of movement disorders remains to be studied.

Conclusions

In this mini-review, we have critically evaluated three models to explain pathophysiology of movement disorders, especially PD: the "firing rate", "firing pattern" and "dynamic activity" models. Among them, the "dynamic activity model" seems to better explain the symptoms of movement disorders and provide unified mechanisms for hypokinetic and hyperkinetic disorders. Further studies including the recording of movement-related BG activity in animal models of PD and hyperkinetic disorders will be necessary to verify the "dynamic activity model".

Acknowledgments

This work was supported by CREST (to AN) and Strategic Japanese German Cooperative Programme (to AN) from Japan Science and Technology Agency, a Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (A) (26250009) from the Ministry of Education, Culture, Sports, Science and Technology (MEXT) of Japan (to AN) and The Kato Memorial Trust for Nambyo Research (to YT).

References

- Miller WC, DeLong MR. Altered tonic activity of neurons in the globus pallidus and subthalamic nucleus in the primate MPTP model of parkinsonism. In: Carpenter MB, Jayaraman A, editors. The basal ganglia II: structure and functions – current concepts. New York: Plenum; 1987. p. 415–27.
- [2] Wichmann T, Bergman H, Starr PA, Subramanian T, Watts RL, DeLong MR. Comparison of MPTP-induced changes in spontaneous neuronal discharge in the internal pallidal segment and in the substantia nigra pars reticulata in primates. Exp Brain Res 1999;125:397–409.
- [3] Raz A, Vaadia E, Bergman H. Firing patterns and correlations of spontaneous discharge of pallidal neurons in the normal and the tremulous 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine vervet model of parkinsonism. J Neurosci 2000;20:8559–71.
- [4] Rivlin-Etzion M, Marmor O, Saban G, Rosin B, Haber SN, Vaadia E, et al. Lowpass filter properties of basal ganglia cortical muscle loops in the normal and MPTP primate model of parkinsonism. J Neurosci 2008;28:633–49.
- [5] Bergman H, Feingold A, Nini A, Raz A, Slovin H, Abeles M, et al. Physiological aspects of information processing in the basal ganglia of normal and parkinsonian primates. Trends Neurosci 1998;21:32–8.
- [6] Levy R, Hutchison WD, Lozano AM, Dostrovsky JO. High-frequency synchronization of neuronal activity in the subthalamic nucleus of parkinsonian patients with limb tremor. J Neurosci 2000;20:7766–75.
- [7] Brown P, Oliviero A, Mazzone P, Insola A, Tonali P, Di Lazzaro V. Dopamine dependency of oscillations between subthalamic nucleus and pallidum in Parkinson's disease. J Neurosci 2001;21:1033–8.
- [8] Brown P. Abnormal oscillatory synchronisation in the motor system leads to impaired movement. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2007;17:656–64.
- [9] Nambu A. Seven problems on the basal ganglia. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2008;18: 595–604.
- [10] Albin RL, Young AB, Penney JB. The functional anatomy of basal ganglia disorders. Trends Neurosci 1989;12:366–75.
- [11] Alexander GE, Crutcher MD. Functional architecture of basal ganglia circuits: neural substrates of parallel processing. Trends Neurosci 1990;13:266–71.
- [12] DeLong MR. Primate models of movement disorders of basal ganglia origin. Trends Neurosci 1990;13:281–5.
- [13] Gerfen CR, Engber TM, Mahan LC, Susel Z, Chase TN, Monsma Jr FJ, et al. D1 and D2 dopamine receptor-regulated gene expression of striatonigral and striatopallidal neurons. Science 1990;250:1429–32.
- [14] Mallet N, Ballion B, Le Moine C, Gonon F. Cortical inputs and GABA interneurons imbalance projection neurons in the striatum of parkinsonian rats. J Neurosci 2006;26:3875–84.
- [15] Filion M, Tremblay L. Abnormal spontaneous activity of globus pallidus neurons in monkeys with MPTP-induced parkinsonism. Brain Res 1991;547:142–51.
- [16] Bergman H, Wichmann T, Karmon B, DeLong MR. The primate subthalamic nucleus. II. Neuronal activity in the MPTP model of parkinsonism. J Neurophysiol 1994;72:507–20.
- [17] Boraud T, Bezard E, Bioulac B, Gross C. High frequency stimulation of the internal globus pallidus (GPi) simultaneously improves parkinsonian symptoms and reduces the firing frequency of GPi neurons in the MPTP-treated monkey. Neurosci Lett 1996;215:17–20.

- [18] Boraud T, Bezard E, Guehl D, Bioulac B, Gross C. Effects of I-DOPA on neuronal activity of the globus pallidus externalis (GPe) and globus pallidus internalis (GPi) in the MPTP-treated monkey. Brain Res 1998;787:157–60.
- [19] Heimer G, Bar-Gad I, Goldberg JA, Bergman H. Dopamine replacement therapy reverses abnormal synchronization of pallidal neurons in the 1-methyl-4phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine primate model of parkinsonism. J Neurosci 2002;22:7850–5.
- [20] Wichmann T, Kliem MA, Soares J. Slow oscillatory discharge in the primate basal ganglia. J Neurophysiol 2002;87:1145–8.
- [21] Soares J, Kliem MA, Betarbet R, Greenamyre JT, Yamamoto B, Wichmann T. Role of external pallidal segment in primate parkinsonism: comparison of the effects of 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetrahydropyridine-induced parkinsonism and lesions of the external pallidal segment. J Neurosci 2004;24: 6417–26.
- [22] Kravitz AV, Freeze BS, Parker PRL, Kay K, Thwin MT, Deisseroth K, et al. Regulation of parkinsonian motor behaviours by optogenetic control of basal ganglia circuitry. Nature 2010;466:622–6.
- [23] Vitek JL, Chockkan V, Zhang JY, Kaneoke Y, Evatt M, DeLong MR, et al. Neuronal activity in the basal ganglia in patients with generalized dystonia and hemiballismus. Ann Neurol 1999;46:22–35.
- [24] Zhuang P, Li Y, Hallett M. Neuronal activity in the basal ganglia and thalamus in patients with dystonia. Clin Neurophysiol 2004;115:2542–57.
- [25] Starr PA, Rau GM, Davis V, Marks Jr WJ, Ostrem JL, Simmons D, et al. Spontaneous pallidal neuronal activity in human dystonia: comparison with Parkinson's disease and normal macaque. J Neurophysiol 2005;93: 3165–76.
- [26] Tang JK, Moro E, Mahant N, Hutchison WD, Lang AE, Lozano AM, et al. Neuronal firing rates and patterns in the globus pallidus internus of patients with cervical dystonia differ from those with Parkinson's disease. J Neurophysiol 2007;98:720–9.
- [27] Hutchison WD, Lang AE, Dostrovsky JO, Lozano AM. Pallidal neuronal activity: implications for models of dystonia. Ann Neurol 2003;53:480–8.
- [28] Chiken S, Shashidharan P, Nambu A. Cortically evoked long-lasting inhibition of pallidal neurons in a transgenic mouse model of dystonia. J Neurosci 2008;28:13967–77.
- [29] Carpenter MB, Whittier JR, Mettler FA. Analysis of choreoid hyperkinesia in the Rhesus monkey; surgical and pharmacological analysis of hyperkinesia resulting from lesions in the subthalamic nucleus of Luys. J Comp Neurol 1950;92: 293–331.
- [30] Hamada I, DeLong MR. Excitotoxic acid lesions of the primate subthalamic nucleus result in reduced pallidal neuronal activity during active holding. Neurophysiol 1992;68:1859–66.
- [31] Nambu A, Tokuno H, Hamada I, Kita H, Imanishi M, Akazawa T, et al. Excitatory cortical inputs to pallidal neurons via the subthalamic nucleus in the monkey. J Neurophysiol 2000;84:289–300.
- [32] Matsumura M, Tremblay L, Richard H, Filion M. Activity of pallidal neurons in the monkey during dyskinesia induced by injection of bicuculline in the external pallidum. Neuroscience 1995;65:59–70.
- [33] Grabil D, McCairn K, Hirsch EC, Agid Y, Feger J, Francois C, et al. Behavioural disorders induced by external globus pallidus dysfunction in primates: I. Behavioural study. Brain 2004;127:2039–54.
- [34] Bronfeld M, Belelovsky K, Erez Y, Bugaysen J, Korngreen A, Bar-Gad I. Bicuculline-induced chorea manifests in focal rather than globalized abnormalities in the activation of the external and internal globus pallidus. J Neurophysiol 2010;104:3261–75.
- [35] Gerfen CR, Surmeier DJ. Modulation of striatal projection systems by dopamine. Annu Rev Neurosci 2011;34:441–66.
- [36] Surmeier DJ, Ding J, Day M, Wang Z, Shen W. D1 and D2 dopamine-receptor modulation of striatal glutamatergic signaling in striatal medium spiny neurons. Trends Neurosci 2007;30:228–35.
- [37] Flores-Barrera E, Vizcarra-Chacon BJ, Bargas J, Tapia D, Galarraga E. Dopaminergic modulation of corticostriatal responses in medium spiny projection neurons from direct and indirect pathways. Front Syst Neurosci 2011;5:15.
- [38] Planert H, Berger TK, Silberberg G. Membrane properties of striatal direct and indirect pathway neurons in mouse and rat slices and their modulation by dopamine. PLoS ONE 2013;8:e57054.
- [39] Calabresi P, Picconi B, Tozzi A, Di Filippo M. Dopamine-mediated regulation of corticostriatal synaptic plasticity. Trends Neurosci 2007;30:211–9.
- [40] Villalba RM, Smith Y. Striatal spine plasticity in Parkinson's disease. Front Neuroanat 2010;4:133.
- [41] Rommelfanger KS, Wichmann T. Extrastriatal dopaminergic circuits of the basal ganglia. Front Neuroanat 2010;4:139.
- [42] Wichmann T, Smith Y. Extrastriatal plasticity in parkinsonism. Basal Ganglia 2013;3:5–8.
- [43] Wichmann T, Soares J. Neuronal firing before and after burst discharges in the monkey basal ganglia is predictably patterned in the normal state and altered in parkinsonism. J Neurophysiol 2006;95:2120–33.
- [44] Leblois A, Meissner W, Bioulac B, Gross CE, Hansel D, Boraud T. Late emergence of synchronized oscillatory activity in the pallidum during progressive parkinsonism. Eur J Neurosci 2007;26:1701–13.
- [45] Galvan A, Hu X, Smith Y, Wichmann T. Localization and function of GABA transporters in the globus pallidus of parkinsonian monkeys. Exp Neurol 2010;223:505–15.
- [46] Tachibana Y, Iwamuro H, Kita H, Takada M, Nambu A. Subthalamo-pallidal interactions underlying parkinsonian neuronal oscillations in the primate basal ganglia. Eur J Neurosci 2011;34:1470–84.

- [47] Inase M, Buford JA, Anderson ME. Changes in the control of arm position, movement, and thalamic discharge during local inactivation in the globus pallidus of the monkey. J Neurophysiol 1996;75:1087–104.
- [48] Desmurget M, Turner RS. Testing basal ganglia motor functions through reversible inactivations in the posterior internal globus pallidus. J Neurophysiol 2008;99:1057–76.
- [49] Baron MS, Vitek JL, Bakay RA, Green J, Kaneoke Y, Hashimoto T, et al. Treatment of advanced Parkinson's disease by posterior GPi pallidotomy: 1-Year results of a pilot study. Ann Neurol 1996;40:355–66.
- [50] Bhatia KP, Marsden CD. The behavioural and motor consequences of focal lesions of the basal ganglia in man. Brain 1994;117(Pt 4):859–76.
- [51] Marsden CD, Obeso JA. The functions of the basal ganglia and the paradox of stereotaxic surgery in Parkinson's disease. Brain 1994;117(Pt 4):877–97.
- [52] Buzsaki G, Anastassiou CA, Koch C. The origin of extracellular fields and currents – EEG, ECoG, LFP and spikes. Nat Rev Neurosci 2012;13:407–20.
- [53] Filion M. Effects of interruption of the nigrostriatal pathway and of dopaminergic agents on the spontaneous activity of globus pallidus neurons in the awake monkey. Brain Res 1979;178:425–41.
- [54] Hutchison WD, Lozano AM, Davis KD, Saint-Cyr JA, Lang AE, Dostrovsky JO. Differential neuronal activity in segments of globus pallidus in Parkinson's disease patients. Neuroreport 1994;5:1533–7.
- [55] Magnin M, Morel A, Jeanmonod D. Single-unit analysis of the pallidum, thalamus and subthalamic nucleus in parkinsonian patients. Neuroscience 2000;96:549–64.
- [56] Heimer G, Rivlin-Etzion M, Bar-Gad I, Goldberg JA, Haber SN, Bergman H. Dopamine replacement therapy does not restore the full spectrum of normal pallidal activity in the 1-methyl-4-phenyl-1,2,3,6-tetra-hydropyridine primate model of parkinsonism. J Neurosci 2006;26:8101–14.
- [57] Wichmann T, Bergman H, DeLong MR. The primate subthalamic nucleus. III. Changes in motor behavior and neuronal activity in the internal pallidum induced by subthalamic inactivation in the MPTP model of parkinsonism. J Neurophysiol 1994;72:521–30.
- [58] Nini A, Feingold A, Slovin H, Bergman H. Neurons in the globus pallidus do not show correlated activity in the normal monkey, but phase-locked oscillations appear in the MPTP model of parkinsonism. J Neurophysiol 1995;74: 1800–5.
- [59] Goldberg JA, Rokni U, Boraud T, Vaadia E, Bergman H. Spike synchronization in the cortex/basal-ganglia networks of parkinsonian primates reflects global dynamics of the local field potentials. J Neurosci 2004;24:6003–10.
- [60] Rivlin-Etzion M, Marmor O, Heimer G, Raz A, Nini A, Bergman H. Basal ganglia oscillations and pathophysiology of movement disorders. Curr Opin Neurobiol 2006;16:629–37.
- [61] Brown P. Oscillatory nature of human basal ganglia activity: relationship to the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. Mov Disord 2003;18:357–63.
- [62] Brown P, Williams D. Basal ganglia local field potential activity: character and functional significance in the human. Clin Neurophysiol 2005;116: 2510–9.
- [63] Gatev P, Darbin O, Wichmann T. Oscillations in the basal ganglia under normal conditions and in movement disorders. Mov Disord 2006;21:1566–77.
- [64] Hammond C, Bergman H, Brown P. Pathological synchronization in Parkinson's disease: networks, models and treatments. Trends Neurosci 2007;30: 357–64.
- [65] Plenz D, Kital ST. A basal ganglia pacemaker formed by the subthalamic nucleus and external globus pallidus. Nature 1999;400:677–82.
- [66] Mallet N, Pogosyan A, Marton LF, Bolam JP, Brown P, Magill PJ. Parkinsonian beta oscillations in the external globus pallidus and their relationship with subthalamic nucleus activity. J Neurosci 2008;28:14245–58.
- [67] Holgado AJN, Terry JR, Bogacz R. Conditions for the generation of beta oscillations in the subthalamic nucleus–globus pallidus network. J Neurosci 2010;30:12340–52.

- [68] Bevan MD, Magill PJ, Terman D, Bolam JP, Wilson CJ. Move to the rhythm: oscillations in the subthalamic nucleus-external globus pallidus network. Trends Neurosci 2002;25:525–31.
- [69] Terman D, Rubin JE, Yew AC, Wilson CJ. Activity patterns in a model for the subthalamopallidal network of the basal ganglia. J Neurosci 2002;22:2963–76.
- [70] Humphries MD, Stewart RD, Gurney KN. A physiologically plausible model of action selection and oscillatory activity in the basal ganglia. J Neurosci 2006;26:12921–42.
- [71] Leblois A, Boraud T, Meissner W, Bergman H, Hansel D. Competition between feedback loops underlies normal and pathological dynamics in the basal ganglia. J Neurosci 2006;26:3567–83.
- [72] Mallet N, Pogosyan A, Sharott A, Csicsvari J, Bolam JP, Brown P, et al. Disrupted dopamine transmission and the emergence of exaggerated beta oscillations in subthalamic nucleus and cerebral cortex. J Neurosci 2008;28:4795–806.
- [73] Sasaki K. Electrophysiological studies on thalamo-cortical projections. Int Anesthesiol Clin 1975;13:1–35.
- [74] Nambu A. A new dynamic model of the cortico-basal ganglia loop. Prog Brain Res 2004;143:461-6.
- [75] Nambu A. A new approach to understand the pathophysiology of Parkinson's disease. J Neurol 2005;252(Suppl. 4):IV1-4.
- [76] Maurice N, Deniau JM, Glowinski J, Thierry AM. Relationships between the prefrontal cortex and the basal ganglia in the rat: physiology of the corticonigral circuits. J Neurosci 1999;19:4674–81.
- [77] Tachibana Y, Kita H, Chiken S, Takada M, Nambu A. Motor cortical control of internal pallidal activity through glutamatergic and GABAergic inputs in awake monkeys. Eur J Neurosci 2008;27:238–53.
- [78] Nishibayashi H, Ogura M, Kakishita K, Tanaka S, Tachibana Y, Nambu A, et al. Cortically evoked responses of human pallidal neurons recorded during stereotactic neurosurgery. Mov Disord 2011;26:469–76.
- [79] Sano H, Chiken S, Hikida T, Kobayashi K, Nambu A. Signals through the striatopallidal indirect pathway stop movements by phasic excitation in the substantia nigra. J Neurosci 2013;33:7583–94.
- [80] Parent A, Hazrati LN. Functional anatomy of the basal ganglia. II. The place of subthalamic nucleus and external pallidum in basal ganglia circuitry. Brain Res Brain Res Rev 1995;20:128–54.
- [81] Boraud T, Bezard E, Bioulac B, Gross CE. Ratio of inhibited-to-activated pallidal neurons decreases dramatically during passive limb movement in the MPTPtreated monkey. J Neurophysiol 2000;83:1760–3.
- [82] Leblois A, Meissner W, Bezard E, Bioulac B, Gross CE, Boraud T. Temporal and spatial alterations in GPi neuronal encoding might contribute to slow down movement in parkinsonian monkeys. Eur J Neurosci 2006;24:1201–8.
- [83] Degos B, Deniau JM, Thierry AM, Glowinski J, Pezard L, Maurice N. Neurolepticinduced catalepsy: electrophysiological mechanisms of functional recovery induced by high-frequency stimulation of the subthalamic nucleus. J Neurosci 2005;25:7687–96.
- [84] Dejean C, Gross CE, Bioulac B, Boraud T. Dynamic changes in the cortex-basal ganglia network after dopamine depletion in the rat. J Neurophysiol 2008;100: 385–96.
- [85] Kita H, Kita T. Cortical stimulation evokes abnormal responses in the dopamine-depleted rat basal ganglia. J Neurosci 2011;31:10311–22.
- [86] Nambu A, Chiken S, Shashidharan P, Nishibayashi H, Ogura M, Kakishita K, et al. Reduced pallidal output causes dystonia. Front Syst Neurosci 2011;5:89.
- [87] Shink E, Bevan MD, Bolam JP, Smith Y. The subthalamic nucleus and the external pallidum: two tightly interconnected structures that control the output of the basal ganglia in the monkey. Neuroscience 1996;73:335–57.
- [88] Smith Y, Bevan MD, Shink E, Bolam JP. Microcircuitry of the direct and indirect pathways of the basal ganglia. Neuroscience 1998;86:353–87.
 [89] Takakusaki K, Saitoh K, Harada H, Kashiwayanagi M. Role of basal ganglia-
- [89] Takakusaki K, Saitoh K, Harada H, Kashiwayanagi M. Role of basal gangliabrainstem pathways in the control of motor behaviors. Neurosci Res 2004;50: 137–51.